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INTRODUCTION





I FIRST SAW JIM in 1966 in the London Fog, a small nightclub at the Beverly Hills end of the Sunset Strip in Los Angeles. Despite its classy location, it was a very funky club – not at all like the hangout for the scene-makers who gathered a few blocks away at the Whisky a Go-Go.


It took its name from the fact that it opened during the middle of what was then called an ‘invasion’ by English rock bands – ‘Swinging London’ and all of that – so there were British newspapers pasted to the walls. However, there was little else that made you think of London, except for the thick cigarette smoke which could, at a stretch, be thought to resemble London fog. The place smelled of spilled beer and ashtrays. It was dark and very narrow with high ceilings. It appeared as if someone had walled off an alley at both ends. Detroit maybe. Definitely not London.


I remember Jim in unpressed khaki pants and a longsleeved, pullover cotton shirt, holding onto the hand-mike as if he were about to suck it, while singing some of the raunchiest and most perverse songs I’d heard anywhere. At the time, I was writing a column for The Los Angeles Free Press, a weekly underground newspaper, and booking acts for a rock and roll television show called Shivaree. This put me on the Sunset Strip four or five nights a week for more than two years, from 1964 to 1966.


Jim was raw, untrained, and obviously ill-at-ease. Frequently he sang with his back to the audience. Nonetheless, there was an undeniable and unavoidable energy – a dark and compelling force. It seemed to me that someone, or several, in the band had read Nietzsche, listened to Brecht and Weil, and taken a lot of LSD.
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The Doors play The Scene, a tiny but influential blues club in New York.








At the same time, all four of the guys looked like clean-cut university students – which they had been until very recently, although I didn’t know it then. Despite this wholesome, collegiate look, the band, and especially Jim, exuded a spooky, Germanic dread. Sexy, but mysterious and threatening. However, the notes I took at the time do not reflect much more than ‘group to watch’.


In the years following I did just that. I watched. And then I interviewed Jim, in 1968, and again in 1969, following the obscenity and exposure arrests that virtually destroyed the band. By then they had become one of the most popular groups in the world. I went to Mexico with the Doors for a week, and after that for a year Jim and I got together occasionally. He’d invite me to screenings of his films, or to poetry readings. Sometimes we’d meet in a bar. We weren’t friends. It was more like good acquaintances.


 


A sequence of unimportant but for me significant events began at the time of my second long interview with Jim, an interview for Rolling Stone, which turned out to be one of his longest and one of his best; it is included in this book. During one of the interview sessions, Jim asked if we could visit his agent’s office, so he could sign a contract for his first book of poetry. We discovered that afternoon that we had the same agent.


I had recently written a small history of rock and roll. Jim said he had read and liked it and he asked what I was planning next. I said I wasn’t sure, but the biography intrigued me as a form. I said I was thinking about asking Frank Zappa for his co-operation. Jim merely said, ‘I’d like to read a book about Elvis Presley’. The book I later wrote was dedicated to Jim and, coincidentally, the editor who took it was Jim’s editor, Jonathan Dolger at Simon & Schuster. By the time the book was published, in 1971, Jim was reported dead in Paris and Jonathan had asked me if I would like to do a book about him. I said yes.


Of course, some regarded this rock singer as little more than another of Hollywood’s pretty faces, a flashy, sexy but ultimately inconsequential intellectual street punk and would-be bard who took too much acid and then too much booze, wore tight leather pants, shocked everyone when he sang about fucking his mother, then corked the bottle with a highly publicized arrest for allegedly waving his cock at a crowd of 10,000 in Miami.


But even these most cynical of critics must agree that during his fiery careen through the 1960s, Jim Morrison was a kind of cultural superman, larger than life, moving little girls (and many men) to sexual delight and intellectuals to profundity with equal ease and dispatch. At the same time he was preening and blowing kisses in magazines for sub-teens, the egg-headed New York critic (and Columbia University English professor) Albert Goldman called him a ‘surf-born Dionysus’ and a ‘hippie Adonis’. Posing for early publicity photographs with an obvious erection running down one pantleg, then shifting to a bare-chested look with leather pants, he inspired Digby Diehl (who soon after became the book editor of The Los Angeles Times) to describe Jim in an article by referring to Norman O. Brown’s ‘polymorphous perverse infantile sexuality’. Joan Didion added, ‘It was Morrison who wrote most of the Doors lyrics, the peculiar character of which was to reflect either an ambiguous paranoia or a quite unambiguous insistence upon the love-death as the ultimate high.’


At the same time, Vogue called him one of the ‘ravishing people’ and two of the best critics of the period, Village Voice columnist Richard Goldstein and Crawdaddy editor Paul Williams, effused over him over and over again. There was something there for everyone.


He had modelled his early look from the classics, taking his haircut and the way he held his head from Plutarch’s description of Alexander the Great. The curly locks and bunched neck muscles resembled a bust by Michelangelo. Like Brando, when reporters asked him questions, Jim referred them to books, notably Friedrich Nietzsche’s The Birth of Tragedy. He had suits custom-made from the skins of snakes and unborn pony. ‘Think of us as erotic politicians,’ he told Newsweek.


In concert, he resembled the Siberian shaman, rattling his tambourine like a gourd and entering a trance-like state to lead his audience toward communal ecstasy. His lyric themes included insanity, imprisonment, abortion, infanticide, incest and murder. He sang of snakes and drowning horses in a time when other performers sang about wearing flowers in your hair, and getting high with a little help from your friends. Jim urged his fans to push personal boundaries, ‘to break on through to the other side’. And he lived on the edge himself, where in true existentialist tradition, he ‘woke up’ to discover that ‘the end is near’. He told a generation starved for love that ‘music is your only friend’. He spoke directly to the ache of loneliness. He captured the impatience of a generation that was frustrated and angry about the way things were being run. We heard incredible stories about his catching dragon flies on the wing in his mouth and eating them, and sticking pins into the pupils of his eyes. ‘I am the Lizard King,’ he said. ‘I can do anything!’


We believed it and he came to believe it, too, for a while.


 


Those who think Jim is alive today do so for a variety of reasons. To begin with, Jim was ‘perfect’ for immortality, because when he was alive, he died so frequently. When the Doors were at their height in the late 1960s, Jim ‘died’ in rumour nearly every weekend, usually in a car accident (like James Dean), and often in a fall from a hotel balcony where he’d been showing off for friends, either by hanging from it by his hands, or dancing along its edge. At other times he ‘died’ from an overdose of something alcoholic, hallucinogenic, or sexual.


The French writer Edgar Morin wrote about the James-Dean-is-alive idea in his book about Hollywood, The Stars. He said there was a ‘spontaneous naive phenomenon: the refusal to believe in the hero’s death. The death of every superman (good or evil) has been doubted and disbelieved, because the faithful were never able to believe these heroic figures were entirely mortal.’ So it was with Jim Morrison.


The believers said it was out of character for Jim to die of a heart attack in a bathtub, the ‘official’ story. Nonetheless, the official story prevailed. Jim’s manager, Billy Siddons, was the one who told the story, and he got it from Pamela Courson, who was Jim’s girlfriend, or ‘common-law wife’, as she was soon described in the press. She told Billy that she was alone with Jim in their Paris flat (sometime after midnight on Friday, July 2nd, 1971) when Jim regurgitated a small quantity of blood. Jim had done that before, she said, and although she was concerned, she was not worried. Jim claimed he felt okay, said he was going to take a bath, and Pamela fell back asleep. At five, she said, she awoke, saw Jim had not returned to the bed, went into the bathroom and found him still in the tub, his arms along the porcelain sides, head back, long wet hair matted against the rim, a boyish smile across his recently clean-shaven face. She thought he was playing one of his jokes. But then the fire department’s resuscitation unit was called, and a doctor and police followed. At least that is the way the story went.
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Jim and Robby Krieger take a break between songs.
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The Doors on Venice Beach, 1966.








One factor causing initial disbelief was timing. Billy Siddons told his (Pamela’s) story to the press a full six days after Jim had died, two days after the funeral. ‘I have just returned from Paris, where I attended the funeral of Jim Morrison,’ Siddons said in a prepared statement (released by a publicity firm in Beverly Hills). ‘Jim was buried in a simple ceremony, with only a few friends present. The initial news of his death and funeral was kept quiet because those of us who knew him intimately and loved him as a person wanted to avoid all the notoriety and circus-like atmosphere that surrounded the deaths of such other rock personalities as Janis Joplin and Jimi Hendrix.


‘I can say that Jim died peacefully of natural causes – he had been in Paris since March with his wife, Pam. He had seen a doctor in Paris about a respiratory problem and had complained of his problem on Saturday, the day of his death …’


In the days that followed, Siddons offered no more information because he had none. He could only guess at what, specifically, had caused the reported heart stoppage, the announced cause of death. (In France, when there is no obvious sign of foul play, autopsies are not required.) Perhaps it was a blood clot moving into his heart from where it had formed when he did one of those famous second-storey dives. Perhaps it was a recurrence of pneumonia, which he’d had less than a year before. Perhaps he merely drank too much. It couldn’t have been heroin; everyone agreed: Jim’s drug of choice was booze. All Siddons could add was a description of the funeral and cemetery. Jim had walked the cobblestoned streets and dirt paths of the Cimetière du Père-Lachaise only a few days before his death, Siddons said, seeking the graves of Colette, Heloise and Abelard, Sarah Bernhardt, Edith Piaf, Oscar Wilde, Honoré de Balzac, Proust, Rossini, Bizet, and Chopin. Siddons said Jim had expressed a wish to be buried there.


‘There was no service,’ he said, ‘and that made it all the better. We just threw some flowers and dirt and said goodbye.’


In the days following, a few more details were learned, but they only added to the confusion and mystery. Rumours had spread quickly from Paris to London and then to the U.S. within two days of the reported death – rumours which were traced back to a disc jockey in a Left Bank discotheque who had announced the death to a stunned Saturday night audience the same day Jim died. Nonetheless, on Wednesday, the day Pamela filed the death certificate at the American Embassy and James Douglas Morrison, identified only as a poet, was lowered into the ground, United Press International reported that Jim was not dead, but ‘very tired and resting in an unnamed Paris hospital’. And the mid-week edition of France’s popular music trade paper headlined a story, ‘Jim Morrison N’Est Pas Mort (Jim Morrison Is Not Dead)’.


Why all the denials? Why no public statement from a doctor? Were the police involved, and if not, why not? Why were Pamela’s friends in Paris refusing to say anything to anyone? How was it that an American citizen could be buried so quickly and quietly in a famous graveyard like Père-Lachaise? Or was Jim, indeed, still alive in an unnamed Paris hospital? What the hell was going on? Billy Siddons had nothing more to say and Pamela had gone into seclusion, reportedly still in shock.


Time passed and a Jim Morrison cult blossomed. Fan mail and epic poems arrived daily at the Elektra Records and Doors offices. Two grieving fans committed suicide. And from the media came a freshet of tribute, turning into a river of gore, as writers tilted with credibility in creating ‘The Curse of J’. Now that Brian Jones and Jimi Hendrix and Janis Joplin and Jim Morrison were gone (all at 27!), were not the days also numbered for Mick Jagger and John Lennon and Jerry Garcia, etc? On the street in 1971, such a question was regarded portentously.
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Jim Morrison with Ray Manzarek during a pre-concert sound check. Manzarek and Morrison were intellectual equals and worked well together.








Within six months, the posthumous product began to appear. In January, 1972, Elektra issued a two-record anthology of Doors material, packaged with the slogan ‘22 Classic Doors Songs – Special Low Price’. At the same time in London, someone bootlegged some unreleased jam sessions featuring Jimi and Jim, among others, on an album called Sky High, whose cover featured a grinning skull. In April, a radio station in Baltimore conducted a two-hour seance ‘live’ over the air in an attempt to contact Jim’s spirit, and, presumably, energize listener ratings. In June, Esquire delivered a bitter and retrospective slap entitled ‘The Real-Life Death of Jim Morrison: Slamming the Door on the Woodstock Nation’. And on a slightly less commercial level, when classes resumed at San Diego State University three months after that, one of the new courses was called ‘Rock Poetry’ and it featured Jim’s lyrics and was listed in the university catalogue under ‘Comparative Literature’. At the same time in Los Angeles, a Jim Morrison Film Fund of $40,000 was announced at UCLA, where Jim had been a cinematography student. And, in November, readers of Playboy magazine elected Jim to the Playboy Jazz & Pop Hall of Fame.


Simultaneously in Paris, the Doors’ final album, L.A. Woman, was awarded the Grand Prize of the Académie Charles Cros – the ‘Grammy’ of the French music industry – and was named Album of the Year by the readers of France’s most articulate pop music magazine, Rock & Folk. In the same poll, Jim also was named France’s No. 1 chanteur – though he was not French, and never had sung publicly in France.


The worshipful infatuation reached a kind of peak in France a year later when on May 1st 1973, the remaining three Doors performed at the Olympia Theatre in Paris to one of the group’s most emotional audiences. I happened to be in Europe that year, as a correspondent for Rolling Stone, and I flew to Paris for the concert. There were many in the 2,000-seat theatre who were in tears, and many who wondered why no one in the band even so much as mentioned Jim that night, or visited the grave the next day. The Doors did not do so, they said later, fearing an unpleasant crowd scene.


At the cemetery there was a crowd, Doors or no Doors. Within days of Jim’s burial, his grave became a pilgrimage site. ‘Flower bower’ is what the Manchester Guardian called it, while in France L’Express termed it ‘la grande migration’ and The Los Angeles Times headlined its story ‘Daily Mini Music Festival at Jim Morrison’s Grave’. Only a hand-lettered plaque on a temporary wooden stand marked the plot, but the grave was unmistakably that of France’s No. 1 chanteur. Jim’s fans had spray-painted arrows on tombs showing the way to the site, and once there, the visitor found graffiti in French, German, Spanish, and English covering all the nearby headstones and sepulchres. The plot itself was so small it seemed as if Jim might have been buried standing up. Around it was a border of scallop shells and near the plaque there were bunches of flowers, collages and paintings, and poems streaked with recent rain. Standing and sitting nearby were young European and American fans, smoking cigarettes, playing guitars, whispering in reverent tones, offering toasts to the dead singer with bottles of beer and cheap wine.


Perhaps even more interesting than the physical evidence of a cult were the theories being developed about how, and why, Jim died, or didn’t die. The Parisians held out for heroin as the cause of death. After all, they said, hadn’t that disc jockey, an American exile named Cameron Watson, got his information the very day Jim died from a known junkie, who had told the same disc jockey a few days earlier that he was buying 3,000 francs ($500) worth of smack for Jim and Marianne Faithfull? This, at least, is what Watson told me and presumably told many others. And didn’t some of the graffiti at Père-Lachaise – ‘Have mercy for junkies’ and ‘shootez’ – support the theory that it was a drug overdose and not a heart attack? And wasn’t Jim found in a bathtub, usually the first place a victim of an overdose is taken for attempted revival?
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Jim modelling Gloria Stavers’ fur coat during a photo session in her New York apartment.








One of New York’s young, flashy entertainment lawyers of the time, Richard Golub, had an even juicier theory. He called me at my office at Rolling Stone in London. We met at a nearby pub, where he told me, unequivocally, that Jim was murdered. Golub based his claim largely on an interview with a French model and actress, Elizabeth (ZoZo) Larivière, from whom Jim and Pamela subleased their Paris flat. She was quoted as saying that a door between the living room and one of the bedrooms had been broken open, the lock and knob removed. Golub said she found a bloody tee-shirt in the closet, a bloody knife under the bed. She also gave Golub a carton of papers, tapes and notebooks that had been left behind, including several threatening letters from someone who claimed to be Jim’s ex-wife and who on the basis of even the most superficial examination of the letters appeared to be disturbed. Golub wanted to sell me (Rolling Stone) the story and the box of stuff. I declined.


The most bizarre theory had Jim the victim of a political conspiracy aimed at discrediting and eliminating the hippie/New Left/counter-culture lifestyle – a vast, pervasive and, according to the initiates, connected set of conspiracies that also included the shootings at Kent State and Jackson State, the riots at Isla Vista, the Weatherman bombings, the stiff prison sentences given Timothy Leary and the Chicago Eight, the Charlie Manson murders, and the deaths of Brian Jones, Janis Joplin, Jimi Hendrix and more than two dozen Black Panthers.


There were others who believed that Jim had overdosed on cocaine, a drug he was known to enjoy. While still more merely shrugged and said that forgetting the murder stories, it didn’t matter precisely how Jim died – whether he overdosed on something, had a heart attack caused by a blood clot or respiratory failure, or merely drank himself to death (as so many had surmised from the start) – the bottom line still read ‘suicide’. One way or another, he was dead of self-abuse, however slow or fast, and finding out how was merely a matter of determining the calibre of the metaphorical pistol he had held to his head.


On the other hand, there were those who wouldn’t buy any of this. The easiest thing to get going in the preparation of No One Here Gets Out Alive was a conversation about the possibility that Jim Morrison was not dead and buried in that famous cemetery in Paris. Practically everyone I talked to while researching my book asked if I was certain that he was dead. At the Olympia Theatre the night the surviving Doors performed, members of the audience cried out, ‘Jim … are you here?’


This was not a fantasy without circumstantial support. Clearly there was believable motivation: by faking his death, the thinking went, Jim was merely seeking the peace he couldn’t find as a rock star and sex idol. During his life, he sought credibility as a poet and so had done nothing more at the so-called end of it than disappear from view in order to have the time to write and, with his disappearance, gain the freedom that anonymity brings.


There were several instances when the seeds of such a possible hoax were sown – at the Fillmore Auditorium in San Francisco in 1967, when the Doors still hadn’t had a hit record and Jim suggested pulling a death stunt for the publicity it would bring … in his telling me, among others, that he could see himself changing careers radically, reappearing as a suited and neck-tied business executive … in the plot-line of a film script he planned with a Hollywood screenwriter shortly before going to Paris, which had the protagonist abandoning his family in Los Angeles to disappear into the Mexican jungle in search of what Jim called ‘absolute zero’ … in the concept of a show conceived with a classical composer, also just before he went to Paris, which had as its hero a returning Vietnam prisoner-of-war, someone who’d virtually been dead for years, returning to his old scene with ‘new eyes’ … and in the life-line of a French poet Jim admired and was much influenced by, Arthur Rimbaud, who after writing all his poetry by the age of 19, disappeared into North Africa to become a gun runner and slave trader. In support of such speculation, many of Jim’s closest friends agreed it was the sort of stunt Jim would attempt, and with Pamela’s cooperation, could actually pull off.





[image: ]

Jim in action at the Fillmore East.














[image: ]

Jim Morrison at Winterland in San Francisco. Morrison’s stage presence was one of his greatest assets as a performer.








Of course I wanted to interview Pam and after more than a year of patient pursuit, she agreed to have lunch with me at a fashionable restaurant in Beverly Hills. When Jim was alive, I hadn’t seen much of Pam and, like so many others, I underestimated her role in Jim’s life, thinking she was more a pretty trinket than a soul mate, as Jim frequently said in his songs. So I wasn’t prepared for how protective she was. Nor was I prepared for her striking beauty. That trendy restaurant where we met was known as a hangout for the Hollywood crowd and Pamela fitted right in. She was thin and curvy and her auburn hair and pale skin dusted with freckles gave her a delicacy and fragility that made you want to take care of her. (A key part of understanding Jim and Pam’s relationship, by the way; from all I could determine later, part of Jim’s attraction to her was rooted in her apparent dependency.)


Pamela told me that Jim had liked the way I wrote about the Doors for Rolling Stone. She quoted him as saying I had been fair, I wasn’t like all the rest, who made him look like such a jerk. If Pamela was manipulating me, trying to disarm me, it worked.


At the time, she was fighting to collect Jim’s legacy. Jim left a will and in it he gave virtually everything to Pamela, what little cash was on hand, and one-quarter of the Doors’ future earnings. But the surviving members of the group filed suit, saying Jim had pulled more than his share out of the communal bank account before he died, so until that was accounted for and settled, Pamela’s portion was held in escrow.


We spent two hours together and I learned only a little about Jim’s life and nothing about his death. And not long after that, Pamela was herself dead of a heroin overdose. Later I was told on good authority that she had been selling her fragile beauty by the hour for nearly two years and that her pimp had been one of Jim’s so-called friends and one-time chauffeur.


At the lunch, Pamela asked me why I wanted to write a book about Jim. ‘When Jim died,’ I said, ‘it affected me more than I thought our relationship warranted. I want to know why.’


In retrospect, that sort of makes me sound like a Jim Morrison groupie, which I don’t think I am. It also sounds shallow, which I hope I’m not. But Morrison had touched me, and I was curious. I think I expected to find all my answers in researching and writing the book. I was wrong, of course. Thus, this second book.


 


But first, a few words about No One Here Gets Out Alive.


The manuscript I submitted to Simon & Schuster was about the size of the Manhattan telephone directory and my editor asked that I cut it down. By the time I did that, the editor figured Jim’s time had come and gone in the book market and the second, much smaller manuscript was rejected. Over the next six years, another 30 or so publishers also rejected the book. Finally, in December 1977, I sent copies of the manuscript to five London publishers. When they added their names to the list of rejections, I gave up.


Danny Sugerman was a young man – who sadly passed away in 2005 – who was a Doors groupie. He worshipped Jim Morrison when he was alive and from the moment of Jim’s death or disappearance, he devoted all his life to keeping Jim’s memory alive and well polished. I interviewed him while doing research for the book. We stayed in touch and when 1978 rolled around and I had those 30-plus rejections, I figured the hell with it, I’d given Morrison enough of my time for this lifetime, and I told Danny so. He said he wanted to try to sell the book and I said sure, go ahead, find a publisher and you’ve got 10 per cent.


Danny sent the large version of the manuscript to Warner Books, not knowing that Warner had rejected the manuscript twice – once when it went in cold, the second time when I imposed on a friend and got it onto the desk of the company president, who wrote me a one-line letter: ‘We’re still not interested.’ Fortunately, this time the manuscript went not to the president’s office, but to that of a young woman who said she wanted to publish the book.
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Jim Morrison at Bill Graham’s Fillmore East. Morrison knew how to use a microphone for both vocal and sexual effect.
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Jim and Pamela posing in the high-class hippy clothes she sold in the shop he bought her.








When she took her recommendation to the editorial board, she was told no, the book had been rejected twice and that was it. She was young, but she had brought in several bestsellers since joining the company and finally the others agreed to publish the book, so long as Hopkins and Sugerman didn’t get anything much in advance. We happily accepted $1,500 and soon after that Danny asked if he could merge the two manuscripts to create a third. I said yes. We spent the $1,500 on a typist.


Danny says now that he and Ray Manzarek, the Doors’ keyboardist, who was paying Danny’s room and board at the time, edited out a lot of the more unsavoury anecdotes. I don’t know, maybe they did. But I do know that the final manuscript was better than Manuscripts One and Two. Danny also wrote an introduction, got the poet Michael McClure (a friend of Jim’s) to write an Afterword, helped round up the photographs, and handled the problem of the dual endings.


When I first wrote the book, I had two endings. In the first ending, Jim died of an overdose of heroin and alcohol. In the second ending, Jim faked his death and disappeared. It was my notion that if the publisher printed 10,000 copies of the book, half would end with the overdose, the other half would end with the disappearance, and the books would be distributed randomly, with no one saying a thing. I thought it was an interesting concept – I still do – and I thought it fitted Jim’s psychology. Besides, I really didn’t know how he died.


The publisher rejected the concept and suggested the two endings be blended into a single, ambiguous chapter, which Danny did (thereby accomplishing the same purpose in fewer words and avoiding a distribution nightmare). I guess that fanned the flames of the cult.


No One Here Gets Out Alive was published in the United States in June 1980, went right onto all the bestseller lists and straight up to No. 1. It remained on those lists for nine months and as I write this, it is still selling. It has sold consistently for more than thirty years and has featured on bestseller lists everywhere in the world. So far, more than 5 million copies are in print and the book has been published in about a dozen other countries, from Greece to Japan to Mexico.


Since the publication of No One Here, much water has passed under the musical bridge and I’ve gathered a wealth of new information about Jim. At one point I wanted to write a second book about Jim and Pam, a love story. I started re-interviewing some of my earlier sources with this in mind. Instead, I give you The Lizard King. There are two parts to this second book. The first is a brief retelling of Jim’s life. In it, I go over some familiar territory, but also add a lot of information – and interview material – that was left out of the first book, as well as put in stuff I’ve learned since the first book was published. This is not a revisionist biography, designed to replace No One Here, but another run past the myth, attempting to capture, and perhaps get closer to explaining, the mystery. And it tells what happened during Jim’s final days in Paris.


The second part of this book is pure, unadulterated Jim, in his own words – a select collection of Question-and-Answer interviews that were conducted during Jim’s brief career. My own interview for Rolling Stone is included. The Lizard King was first published in 1992 and remains a strong-seller – in part due to the extraordinary enigma who inspired it. Jim Morrison was one of the most intelligent and articulate performers I’ve ever met. Most rock performers aren’t even articulate as rock performers. Jim was that – in spades. His lyrics still work today. More than that, Jim was able to express himself, and his ideas, in conversation.


What follows may seem familiar. I will hit the biographical benchmarks which are necessary, and I will tell some familiar stories, because they are too important to leave aside. However, a lot of what follows is new. That is, it never before has been published, nor anywhere else is likely to be.



















[image: ]





THE BIOGRAPHY
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I


THE CHILD





JIM’S FATHER, Steve, was from Leesburg, Florida, and when he was in high school in the 1930s he was too small for football, so he was a cheerleader and a gymnast. He got good grades and was a gentleman. ‘We didn’t dare do anything we weren’t supposed to do,’ said Fran Warfield, who went to school with Steve. ‘We behaved ourselves. That was the way Steve was all his life. He was a leader, but he was military all the way, he toed the line.’


Steve met Jim’s mother Clara Clarke in Honolulu in 1941, soon after he graduated from the U.S. Naval Academy. In many ways, she was Steve’s opposite. She was as blonde as he was dark and the daughter of a maverick lawyer in Wisconsin who had run for political office as a Communist. Clara even lived in a commune as a child; once, her family traded a dog for a tyre to get back to Wisconsin. Friends from the period when Clara was in Hawaii describe her as a good-time party girl, with a somewhat domineering personality. She met Steve Morrison at a military dance shortly before Pearl Harbor was attacked by the Japanese, in 1941.


They married soon after and together they went to Florida, where Steve learned to fly before being assigned to an aircraft carrier in the Pacific. Jim was born on December 8th, 1943, in Melbourne, near what is now Cape Kennedy. For the next two years, until the war ended, he and his mother lived with his father’s parents in Clearwater, in a house whose wide green lawn sloped down to the Gulf of Mexico. His grandparents, Paul and Caroline Morrison, were teetotallers and church-goers. They ran a small laundry in town. It was a safe, warm growing-up environment, but for Clara, fairly dull.


When Steve Morrison returned following the end of the war, he and his family began a typical military lifestyle, moving frequently because of his assignments. Jim acquired a sister, Anne, and then a brother, Andy. They lived in Albuquerque, New Mexico, and then in Los Altos, California, then briefly in Washington, D. C., returning again to California, to Claremont near Los Angeles.


At the age of five, Jim was in a car, traveling along a highway between Albuquerque and Santa Fe with his father and his grandmother Caroline. She told me, ‘We came upon an accident. Indians were wailing and crying. Later, we thought that was very unusual, because we thought Indians didn’t cry. We thought they were more stoic than that. Jimmy was very much affected. He wanted to do something. We stopped and then we went on to call the highway police and an ambulance. Jimmy wanted to do more. He was so upset, his father finally had to say, “Jimmy, you dreamed it. It didn’t happen. It’s not true, you just had a bad dream.”’


Years later, Jim would claim that the souls of those dying Indians, leaped into his head when the Morrison car stopped. It was a good thing to say, in the sixties. Hippies had made native Americans a part of their ‘thing’. After all, after breaking camp, didn’t Indians leave the earth as they’d found it? And, like so much Jim said to the press, it was so eminently quotable. Souls from dying Indians leaping into a future rock star’s head? What an image. No wonder, when Oliver Stone made his movie, this would become the first scene, providing the theme for Jim’s life – a modern-day shaman.


‘The shaman,’ Oliver told me, ‘that’s my hook.’


Jim’s dad’s assignment in Albuquerque had something to do with the atomic bomb. Steve was assigned to White Sands. It was all top secret and Jim’s parents made a pact not to talk about his work at home, an agreement that remained in force for many years. Steve’s cousin Thad Morrison told me that Jim ultimately came to resent the alienation that resulted from the long absences and the secrecy: ‘I think the ultimate break between Jim and his father was over Steve’s putting the Navy ahead of the family, which is what you had to do when you were an officer.’
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Rear Admiral George S. Morrison.








According to Jim’s brother Andy it was the quasi-military way of disciplining the children that solidified the separation. Their parents had decided never to punish the children physically, but to find another way. The way they picked was to ‘dress them down’ (a military phrase), to tell them what they had done wrong over and over again, until reducing them to tears. Andy told me that he always cried, but Jim learned to hold tears back. Today such practices are generally regarded as emotional abuse, which can in their way be as damaging as physical punishment.


Jim’s high school years started in 1957 in Alameda, California, a small island in San Francisco Bay known for its large Navy air station. Commander Morrison was now a flight deck officer aboard the USS Midway, an aircraft carrier. Jim was fourteen and this was his seventh home town.


His best friend was named Fud Ford. They did everything together. They made fools of themselves at the Navy officers’ club to embarrass Jim’s parents’ friends. They sneaked their first drinks from a bottle of gin at Jim’s house and replaced what they drank with water. They raised hell in the local movie theatre and staged practical jokes at school. They found a way to sneak into a female classmate’s boathouse to watch her change into her swim suit. It was, basically, normal teenage stuff.


More unusual was Jim’s interest in writing and art, where the subject usually was sexual or scatological. Fud saved many examples. There were mock radio commercials about masturbation. One of Jim’s most extreme pencil drawings showed a man with a Coca Cola bottle for a penis, a can opener for testicles, slime running from his anus. Another drawing showed a Navy officer in one of those Gilbert & Sullivan coats and hats, dripping with braid, the officer looking cross-eyed, and drooling.


Jim also clipped comic strip characters from the Sunday funny papers, pasted them in new configurations and wrote new dialogue. They, too, showed Jim’s adolescent fascination with sex and defecation. They also demonstrated a sophistication well beyond his age.


In one of them, one of Donald Duck’s nephews was shown looking closely at Pluto’s rear end. Li’l Lulu was approaching, her mouth wide open, her hands held out in front of her, as if upset. She is saying, ‘Just what do you think you’re doing to my dog?’ The duck replies ‘My dear young woman, do you realize this dog has one of the finest assholes I have ever seen!’


In another, Dennis the Menace says to Nancy (of Nancy and Sluggo), ‘What did I do? What did I say? I thought you found my sexual affection stimulating.’ Nancy is pictured running away, saying, ‘Don’t sweat it, man, I’m going down to the drug store for a small purchase.’


In a third, Lucy tells Charlie Brown, ‘I’ll give you 50 cents if you’ll fuck me, Charlie Brown,’ and he says, looking very bored, ‘Throw in your trycicle [sic] and it’s a deal, Baby.’


Fud told me that he couldn’t cut out the characters fast enough to keep up with Jim’s facile mind.


Halfway through his sophomore year, the Morrisons moved again, this time into a big house in what was called ‘the Beverly Hills’ of Alexandria, Virginia, where Jim enrolled in George Washington High School, a segregated school whose student body reflected the surrounding upper-middle class, white Anglo-Saxon population. The Commander was now at the Pentagon.


One of the best interviews I got while researching the book came out of a weekend I spent with Jim’s brother Andy, who was five years younger than Jim. He remembered Jim’s high school years in detail, but not entirely happily. He said Jim tormented him constantly. Once, Jim taped Andy’s mouth shut as he slept, because Andy’s asthma was causing him to make too much noise.


‘He’d pick up a rock and say, “I’ll give you 10.” You said, “No, wait a minute, no, no …” And he’d say, “One …” And you’d start to run and he’d say, “Fourfivesixseveneightnineten!” and clobber you. Another time he came at me with one of those plastic dog shits, holding it in his hand in a towel. He chased me all over the house and finally caught me and ground it into my face and it was … rubber. And you’re expecting something smelly, sticky, and warm. He’d reach over when he was walking with me and somebody else and he’d grab the other guy and say, “Hey … my brother wants to fight you … mah bruther wonts tew faht chewwww, so what are you gonna do about it?” He’d turn your words back on you and make you look stupid. “Hey, man, what’d you climb that tree for?” I’d read in the paper that morning about the man climbing Everest and said, “Because it was there.” And he said, “Yeah, but that pile of dogshit is there, are you gonna eat it?” What do you say to that? If you get on the defensive, that’s it with Jim, you’re dead.’
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Jim aged 16, in a school photo taken in 1961 when he was a pupil at George Washington High School, Virginia.








Jim also tormented his girlfriend, Tandy Martin, who lived in a house nearby. On a bus trip to Washington, D.C., Jim pulled off Tandy’s shoes and socks and exclaimed, so everyone on the bus could hear, ‘I want to kiss your precious feet!’ More than once, in Washington, Jim told her, ‘Find your own way home,’ then he ran away. ‘I’d have no idea where I was,’ she told me. ‘I’d have no idea how to get home and I’d start wailing: “Jim, Jim, no, please don’t leave me.” And he’d come back, laughing.’


As they walked to and from school together, Jim said things to shock and embarrass Tandy: ‘You know what I’m gonna do? I’m gonna go over there and piss on that fireplug.’ Another time, he taunted her into kissing a statue’s backside, keeping it up until she lost her temper and screamed at him, by which time he was standing some distance away and everyone in the park was staring at her. Once, when he saw a paraplegic in a wheelchair, he started mocking him. He used four-letter words in front of Tandy’s mother. At night, he stood outside her house and stared at her bedroom window.


In school, he walked up to female students he didn’t know, bowed deeply, and recited romantic, eighteenth century poetry. Once in class, he ran around the room, chasing an imaginary bee. He left another class, saying he had to go home because he was having brain surgery that afternoon.


Tandy asked him why he always played such games. He said, ‘You’d never stay interested in me if I didn’t.’


Tandy thought she wanted to be an actress. She said Jim admired her for that, because he wanted to be in a play, but didn’t have the nerve to get up on a stage. He also declined to join a fraternity. ‘When you’re in high school and you’re different,’ she said, ‘like, I wanted to join a sorority because I wanted to be “in”, but I knew it was bullshit, so I couldn’t do it. I got bid to the top sorority and I went home and cried all night because I knew I’d have to say no. I was emotionally damaged. When you think that you’re right and everybody else is doing something else and you’re only fifteen years old, well, what happens is: your heart breaks. And a scar forms. Everybody wants to belong when they’re fifteen. Jim was asked to join AV O – the fraternity – and he said no.’


Jim’s room was in the basement. This gave him his own private entrance, allowing him to leave for school in the morning without being seen, so his mother couldn’t say anything about the fact that he was wearing the same shirt for the fifth day in a row. It also gave him a refuge away from the rest of the family, where he spent most of his spare time alone. He had his own refrigerator, where he sometimes kept beer and wine.


He painted, turning out copies of De Kooning nudes, self-portraits, and impressionist paintings of friends, and then he painted over them. He filled up notebooks with poems. Some of them survived, becoming songs years later when he sang with the Doors. One was about horses being jettisoned from sailing ships becalmed in the Sargasso Sea. Tandy remembered a line from a poem he wrote for her: ‘But one/The most beautiful of all/Dances in a ring of fire/And throws off the challenge with a shrug.’


Jim’s bedroom was walled with books, on shelves he built himself. While in Alameda he was struck by Jack Kerouac’s novel On the Road and since then read all the beat generation poets and novelists and had their books lined up next to books by Balzac, Rimbaud, Molière, Joyce, Camus, and Baudelaire. It was a good list for a sixteen-year-old. Even his teachers were impressed.


Deucalion Gregory was Jim’s English teacher. He said, ‘Jim read as much and probably more than any other student in class. His work was excellent. But everything he read was so completely off-beat. I had another teacher who was going to the Library of Congress to check to see if the books Jim was reporting on actually existed or he was making it up. English books on sixteenth and seventeenth century demonology. I’ve never heard of them, but they existed, and I’m convinced from the paper he wrote that he read them, and if he read them, the Library of Congress would’ve been the only source. Other kids were reading authors represented in our anthology, and Jim was reading Burton’s studies of Arab sexuality, which I didn’t even know were in print. He read that kind of book, and handled it beautifully in his written work.’
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Jim and his father on the bridge of the USS Bon Homme Richard in January 1964.








Jim’s grades were good, but not exceptional. His scholastic average was 88.32, a high B. Andy told me that Jim once hollered at his parents, ‘Hey, you know, the only reason you want me to get good grades is so you can go to your bridge club and brag about it!’ I.Q. tests administered during his senior year indicated exceptional intelligence, with a quotient of 149. As close as he was to genius, it appeared that while Jim took on intellectual challenges well beyond his peers, he really didn’t care about grades enough to work at them. This is common among the highly intelligent. Jim also refused to attend his graduation ceremony, a source of great embarrassment to his parents.
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II


THE SCHOLAR





AT THE END of the school year, Jim was packed off to Clearwater, Florida, to live with his Grandfather Paul and Grandmother Caroline Morrison. Jim’s father had kept his parents’ home as his ‘permanent’ address and that made it cheaper for Jim to attend a state school, so for the next year during the day, Jim attended classes at St. Petersburg Junior College; in the evenings and on weekends, he harassed his grandparents. His grandmother said he never let up. They were still non-drinkers, so Jim enjoyed letting them find empty wine bottles in his bedroom trash basket, and frequently came home drunk late at night. He scoffed at their notions of personal hygiene, refusing to shave, get a haircut, or change his clothes. He shocked them at every opportunity, frequently threatening to bring home his ‘nigger girlfriend’.


He spent his afternoons at a coffee shop whose owner was a known homosexual. This man told Jim that when he went cruising for guys, he always went without underwear, saying, ‘Always show your meat,’ advice that, years later, would serve Jim well as a rock star.


Jim refused to go to church.


After registering for the draft, he got excessively drunk. An uncle who lived in Clearwater was obliged to get him out of a situation so sticky that 30 years later, as I was doing my interviews, no one would talk about it.


Grandmother Caroline told me that Jim never shared anything in his life. He wouldn’t talk about his school, his friends, his interests, or his plans for the future. Sometimes, she said, he would read something from one of the notebooks he was keeping, but it always was something aimed at shocking her and her husband. ‘He was mannerly,’ she said, ‘but queer.’


It must have been a relief for the elder Morrisons when, in September 1961, Jim started classes at Florida State University, several hours’ drive away, in Tallahassee, the state capital. Jim remained at FSU for only a year, but he made a lasting impression. He majored in theatre arts and a fellow student, Keith Carlson, remembered what it was like working with Jim in a play, The Dumbwaiter.


‘Every night waiting for the curtain to go up, I had no idea what he was going to do. He was difficult to key on, because he tended to play the role very differently all the time. He wasn’t keying on me, or on dialogue, or on any of the traditional things. He played scenes and delivered lines with an inflection that seemed totally unmotivated, or at least unexpected. There was a constant undercurrent of apprehension, a feeling that things were on the brink of lost control. Back in those days [1963], everyone was uptight about any obscenity on stage, but we had some wonderfully obscene rehearsals. There was no obscenity during any of the performances, but with Jim, we just never knew.’


Chris Kallivokas knew Jim from Clearwater and roomed with him at FSU. He said Jim was a troublemaker, always looking for a reaction. He gave bus drivers a $20 bill, then gave them a hard time when they didn’t have change. When his roommates were taking up a collection to pay the electric bill, Jim refused to contribute because he had an electric blanket, forcing them to freeze. They cut the cord to his blanket in retaliation.


When his roommates insisted he wear a tie to a party, he tied it so that the knot was the ‘size of a grapefruit with a tie about three inches under it’. When someone at the party said he liked Jim’s knot, Jim said, ‘You like my nuts? You crave my body?’ and he bit the guy’s date on the neck and recited something from Dante’s Inferno.


‘Sometimes he wore small Five & Dime Ben Franklin glasses,’ Chris said. ‘In 1962 Jim looked like what college kids looked like in 1968.’


Kallivokas said Jim’s exhibitionist tendencies were well developed. He urinated in a public fountain in front of a theatre just after the movie ended and the audience was filing past. Walking across campus, he shoved his hands down into the front of his pants when co-eds approached. He whistled at secretaries in downtown Tallahassee, but only gave half the whistle, and when they turned around curious, he’d snap his fingers in front of his crotch and laugh. When young girls came to the door at Halloween, Jim greeted them wearing only a West Point robe he had picked up somewhere. Then, after giving them candy, he propositioned the trick-or-treaters and opened his robe.


His housemates didn’t really think that he would have done anything to those young girls. Nor did they believe him when he said he had let women urinate on a glass coffee table with him lying underneath. They knew it was all for effect. Nonetheless, eventually his roommates told him to leave and Jim packed up his one suitcase of clothing and personal effects and two footlockers of books and moved into a half-trailer with a tar paper roof behind a girls’ boardinghouse. Jim later moved into a run-down hotel that once had been home for the prostitutes who serviced the state legislators. The girls had long departed, but the reputation remained, and Jim loved it.


Jim is also remembered in Florida for his intellectual prowess and braggadocio. Several classmates talked about how Jim would wave his arm around his room full of books and ask them to pick one at random and start reading anywhere. Before they had completed a paragraph, Jim identified the book and its author.


For a class in ‘Collective Behaviour: The Psychology of Crowds’, Jim developed a theory whereby he said he could diagnose and treat a crowd according to its sexual neurosis; his professor was ecstatic, although he was unable to convince his classmates to join him at a college concert to test the theory.


Another professor permitted Jim to choose his own subject for a paper. He chose Hieronymus Bosch, a Dutch artist who considered the world as a kind of hell in which we pass through the Devil’s digestive system. Virtually nothing was known then or is known today about Bosch. One of Jim’s classmates remembered that ‘Jim was fascinated by the gory aspects of the Black Plague and its long-range psychological implications, how it affected the minds of Europeans, affecting the traditions, colouring the climate in which Bosch grew up.’ This was bizarre stuff for a college freshman and his history professor was enthralled.


Jim made a lasting impression in every class. Ten years later, the professor who taught Jim the principles of stage design still had three of Jim’s watercolours in a trunk in his office. One of these called for a nude male to be hung over the stage. Another, for Tennessee Williams’ Cat on a Hot Tin Roof, started with a tiny spot of light on the back wall, which grew as the play progressed until it covered the entire set and was revealed as a slide of a cancer cell – recognition of the fact that one of the major characters in the play, Big Daddy, dies of cancer.


Jim was now experimenting with alcohol and, typically, treating it in the same way he treated anything else of interest: compulsively, excessively, dangerously. Once, he borrowed a roommate’s T-bird and ran it into a telephone pole. Another time, when some friends began to duel with umbrellas, Jim reached into a police car and stole a policeman’s umbrella. The umbrella got lost in the scuffle that followed and Jim was jailed on charges of petty larceny, disturbing the peace, resisting arrest, and public drunkenness. The professor for whom he had written the paper on Bosch bailed him out after he’d spent a night in jail and he had to call home for money to pay a $100 fine.


Jim saw his parents in California only twice during the eighteen months he was at FSU. The first time came at the end of the first year, when he hitchhiked across the country with Bryan Gates, a former housemate. According to Bryan they drank in bars everywhere they stopped, looking for the places Jack Kerouac and his friends had visited in On the Road, in New Orleans and Juarez. Always, Bryan said, Jim wanted to take the risky road, to go home with a woman who picked them up in Texas, to visit a whorehouse in Mexico.
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Even as a high school student, Jim Morrison struck staff and fellow students as either brilliant or weird.








The time at home was short. It was marked by his mother’s insistence that he get a haircut and his teaching his brother Andy, then fourteen, dirty jokes which Andy then innocently told his sister and mother, much to Jim’s delight. (‘What did the blind man say when he passed the fish store?’ ‘Hello, girls.’) Jim then went with Bryan to Los Angeles, where they looked for three weeks for summer jobs, after which Jim was ordered by his mother to return to Coronado to meet his father, whose ship had docked. Jim argued to remain in California, to start school at UCLA in the fall, but after a few days, he was put on a plane and sent back to Florida for an abbreviated summer term. In the fall, he began his sophomore year.


The second visit home came at Christmas, when again his mother insisted he get a haircut before meeting his father, who was now captain of the USS Bon Homme Richard, one of the Navy’s newest and largest aircraft carriers. Jim’s dark hair was almost as short as the captain’s and he was wearing khaki slacks and a long-sleeved sweater with leather elbow patches, looking very much like an Ivy League student. He went aboard the carrier and was escorted to the deck so his father could introduce him to the other officers. Later he told friends that his father insisted he fire a machine gun at dummies floating in the water below. Photographs taken at the time imply a strained reunion.


However, a week later Jim finally realized his dream and was enrolled in the ‘motion picture division’ of the Department of Theatre Arts at UCLA. Later this period would be called the film school’s ‘Golden Age’. The faculty included three fine directors – Stanley Kramer, Jean Renoir, and Josef Von Sternberg – and the small and eccentric student body included the young Francis Ford Coppola, who was a couple of years ahead of Jim.


Quickly, Jim gathered around him a coterie of neurotic and obsessive odd ducks. Dennis Jakob was called ‘The Weasel’ or ‘The Rat’ for his hunched-over, scampering walk. Jim loved him because, he said, Dennis was the only person in the world he had met who had read more books than he had. Dennis and Jim talked endlessly about Friedrich Nietzsche. They both identified with Dionysus, ‘who was without any images, himself primordial pain and its primordial re-echoing’. It was a phrase they both knew, a philosophical outlook they shared.


John DeBella was the tall, well-muscled son of a New York cop who liked to brag that he had stolen almost as many books as Dennis had read. (He had a long coat with dozens of pockets sewn inside.) John had an almost pathological verbal facility that seemed rooted in Catholic doctrine. He shared with Jim his ‘Theory of the True Rumour,’ which insisted that perception was everything – to hell with the truth, it was what people believed that was important. (‘I am the Lizard King,’ Jim would say years later. ‘I can do anything!’)


Phil Oleno was the only one in the clique who still lived at home, the source of much teasing from Jim. He looked like a large version of Jim, dark and attractive. Jim was drawn to him because of his obsessive interest in the writings of Carl Jung, who had been a disciple of Freud. Jim preferred another disciple, Sándor Ferenczi, who argued for free love. Phil and Jim debated constantly. Phil’s father was a pharmacist and that gave him access to drugs, another attraction.


At 34, Felix Venable was the oldest student in the film school, accepted because of the challenge his grades at UC Berkeley presented: they were split equally between As and Fs. He was a wiry guy with a sharp nose and drawn face who reminded Jim of Kerouac’s Dean Moriarty, an older guy engaged in a last attempt to bring himself together, frequently stoned on amphetamines, dead before he got his degree.


These four formed Jim’s cadre of thrill and perversity, comprised of intelligence, off-beatness, and daring. The year that followed was an extension of Jim’s life at FSU: the young beatnik at war with art. It was 1964, the year the Beatles conquered America, running into 1965, when California replied with the Beach Boys and Sonny and Cher. This was the soundtrack to the movie that Jim and his cohorts lived.


The scenes developed immediately. Jim became known for his pungent graffiti in the men’s room in the student editing building. He frequented the Lucky U, a bar near the Veteran’s Hospital, where Jim got drunk and teased the wheelchair vets. He exposed himself and urinated in front of women in a public library. He climbed tall buildings on campus, drunk, and threw his clothes to the ground below.
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The Doors on the pier at Venice Beach, 1967.
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